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INTRODUCTION


An extraordinary coincidence


On a clear, bright morning in late June 2014, Professor Ronald Friend set out along the Rue du Nord to find the school where he and his brother had been hidden in plain sight, along with other Jewish children, in the latter years of the Second World War. He was looking for landmarks on the quiet road that goes down to the Tarn, the river that gives Marssac-sur-Tarn in south-west France its name, but he had no real memories to speak of.


Yet, despite the passage of time, he had flown from his home in Portland, Oregon, specifically to recall those dark years. A few days earlier he had attended a ceremony to honour Mary Elmes, the Irishwoman who had extricated him and his older brother from a notorious detention camp in 1942, saving their lives. She played a vital role in rescuing hundreds of Jewish children from the cattle wagons that were destined for the Nazi death camps that year. Later the Gestapo arrested and imprisoned her for six months, but she continued to work to help refugees of all nationalities. Her work went unheralded for decades, but, thanks to Ronald Friend’s nomination, she had just been awarded Israel’s highest honour for risking her life to save Jews during the Holocaust. Now Ronald, his son Sean and a French friend were revisiting the community that had protected them as children while the occupying Germans held their parents.


He wasn’t sure where the old school was, so when he saw a couple approach he asked them for directions.


The man looked at him and asked: ‘Are you Mario Freund?’


‘No,’ replied Ronald, completely taken aback. ‘I’m his brother.’1 (Freund is the German for Friend.)


The man introduced himself as Guy Brunet and said that he and Ronald had been schoolmates – in 1943!2 The two men could not believe the chance encounter some seventy-one years later; and together they went to see the old school. The front of the building was utterly changed, but the back yard was just as Ronald Friend remembered it when he played there in the 1940s. The former classmates walked down to the Tarn to the spot where Ronald’s brother Mario, then six, used to swim.


They went back to Guy Brunet’s house and, over a pastis on the patio, recalled the school, their peers, and the Germans who had been stationed there during the Second World War. Guy Brunet, an engineer, had recently moved back into the original family home in Marssac. Ronald told him that he had gone to England after the war, then on to teach at a university in New York and was now a professor emeritus of psychology in Portland, Oregon.


Guy was able to tell Ronald that people in Marssac still remembered the Freund/Friend family. One neighbour even recalled the particular Sunday after Mass in July 1942 when some of the townspeople were worried that the family had been arrested. They hadn’t been seen for a few days and people feared the worst. In fact they had all left town, in the greatest secrecy, to attempt an escape over the Swiss border. It almost succeeded. Ronald’s father and brother made it over the border but they turned back when they saw that Ronald and his mother had been stopped by the police. They were all arrested and taken to Rivesaltes, an internment camp in south-west France near the Spanish border. The children would eventually make it back to Marssac, followed months later by their mother, who was freed from a second camp, Gurs. However, Hans Freund would never see his family again: he perished in Majdanek camp in Poland in 1943.


In the years that followed, Guy Brunet had often recalled the two brothers.


I often spoke to my family about the Jewish children who were with us in school. At that time, there was a lot of mistrust between people and we were told to keep quiet and say nothing, as there were collaborators about. Every time I spoke of the Freunds, I would add, ‘I don’t know whatever became of them,’ and I worried for their welfare. Because of those conversations, my wife wondered if the person asking for directions to the old school that day [in June] was Jewish. I immediately thought of the Freunds. I was very happy to see Ronald again.3


Ronald felt the same way, and after the astonishing reunion he continued his tour of the town. He passed the town square and went into the church, where he took photographs of a plaque honouring Resistance fighters. It was signed by Fr Louis Bézard, a name familiar to him. The local priest had played a big part in his escape. When Ronald first revisited France, in 1956, Fr Bézard had been able to recount, in great detail, what had happened. He had described how, in November 1942, Ronald (then three years old) and his brother (aged six) were smuggled to a safe house in Toulouse and taken to Marssac.


In a six-page written account, the priest described how he and his colleague André Violier hid the children on that perilous journey. He wrote: ‘The return [to Marssac] was difficult … in particular going across Toulouse and at the train station, which was under heavy Gestapo surveillance. We had to hide the children in our luggage and under a big overcoat.’4 By the time they got to Marssac the little boys were ‘upset, frightened and starving’.5


They were not the only Jewish children taking refuge there: five others had found refuge at the presbytery too. After a few days, when they had regained their strength, the Freund brothers were placed with foster families and they were soon absorbed into daily life in the town. They were baptised as Catholics and mixed in with local children at the school that Ronald had just rediscovered seven decades later.


The tour complete, Ronald returned to his hosts, the family who had once fostered him, in Albi, a town about seven miles away. As they were having dinner the doorbell rang. His former classmate Guy Brunet was at the door. He had a class photo from 1943 that showed a group of twenty-six rather serious-looking boys and their teacher outside a building with peeling plaster and decaying wooden shutters. Guy pointed himself out: first on the left in the second row, near Ronald (third from the left in the same row). Behind them, Mario (now Michael) had a protective hand on his younger brother’s shoulder.


It is one of few pictures that Ronald has of that time, although over the years he has gathered a number of documents that have helped him piece together what happened after his parents were forced to flee an increasingly anti-Jewish Berlin in 1933. His father, Dr Hans Freund, was German and worked as a consulting engineer at Dresdner Bank (which was, ironically, Hitler’s bank). His mother, Eva, a physician, worked at a Jewish hospital before they were forced to move to Milan. The couple’s first son was born there in 1936. They called him Mario, in the hope that he might get Italian papers.


But with the rise of fascism the family was forced to move again, this time to Paris, where Ronald was born on 28 October 1939. He was given a French name, René, and again his father tried, unsuccessfully, to get him French papers. There was a step-daughter too, Suzanna (Sanne). Her mother, Hans’s first wife, had died. Sanne had been sent to relatives in England before the war but was very unhappy to be separated from the rest of the family, and sent postcards saying so, although in a letter written in June 1942, five months before her father was deported, she sounded rather cheerful, describing life at an English school, hiking with the Girl Guides, and a ballet performance in Oxford by the Sadler’s Wells Ballet. ‘I think ballet is like acting, only everything is arranged symmetrically,’ she wrote, before adding that she hoped the family would all be able to go to America soon.6


They would never make that journey, although Dr Freund did receive a job appointment from the Stevens Institute in New Jersey. However, his attempt to get an exit visa for the United States failed. He tried Mexico too, and a number of countries in South America, all without success; yet he continued to explore every possible avenue while interned at Rivesaltes.


Ronald Friend had always known of his father’s efforts, but for decades he wondered why his mother was eventually freed but not him. He also wondered who had taken him and his brother from the camp to safety in September 1942. The answer to that question would eventually come in an e-mail many years later when, in January 2011, Katy Hazan, historian and archivist at the Jewish aid organisation Œuvre de Secours aux Enfants provided a name. The woman who rescued the Freund boys was a Miss Elms.


In fact this was Mary Elmes, who, Ronald Friend would discover, had saved many lives but had quietly turned down any recognition for it when the war was over. He went on to uncover several references to this forgotten aid worker. In 1942 she risked her life several times by hiding Jewish children in her car and driving them to safe houses in the Pyrénées-Orientales region. In a two-month period in the autumn of that year, some 2,289 Jewish adults and 174 children, some as young as two, were herded onto cattle wagons at Rivesaltes and taken to Drancy transit camp outside Paris and then on to Auschwitz. An estimated 427 children were saved from the convoys, thanks to the work of Mary Elmes and other women working at the camp.7


It is impossible to calculate precisely the number of lives Mary Elmes saved, but she ‘spirited away nine children’ from the first convoy on 11 August 1942, according to one surviving document. After that she made several trips to and from the camp, loading her car with the Jewish children most at risk of deportation. Many years later she would tell her son, Patrick Danjou, that on one occasion she managed to hide six children in her car.


After the war she also mentioned in passing that she had hidden a family in her flat in Perpignan. However, she never made much of the work she had done as head of the Quaker delegation in Perpignan, when she helped hundreds of people to secure exit visas from France. She also made sure that hundreds more, mostly children, got out of the camps to take refuge in one of a number of Quaker convalescent homes she helped to establish all over the south-west of France. Some of the children she placed there were saved from deportation and death.


By the time Ronald Friend found out who had saved his life it was too late to thank her in person. Mary Elmes died in 2002, aged ninety-three, in Perpignan, where she had lived the rest of her life after the war.


To honour her memory, Ronald nominated her for inclusion in the ‘Righteous Among the Nations’ at Yad Vashem, an award conferred by Israel on non-Jews who risked their lives to save Jews during the Holocaust. Oskar Schindler and his wife, Emilie, are among its more famous recipients, recognised in 1993 for saving the lives of an estimated 1,100 Jews.


Ronald Friend was determined that Mary Elmes would also be honoured for what she had done. ‘Mary Elmes was clearly a figure who had not been given the recognition that she deserved. She was head of the Quaker delegation in Perpignan with up to thirty people working directly under her. She had been given a prominent role and she showed the way. She was obviously a woman of great intelligence, strength and character.’8


If Ronald Friend had been in any doubt about that, the remarkable character of the woman who saved his life began to emerge when he started the long, taxing process of nominating her for the award at Yad Vashem. He enlisted the help of two British Quakers, Bernard and Janet Wilson, who had an interest in the work done by the Quaker delegation in the south of France during the war. Together they uncovered details of the life of an extraordinary woman who left a brilliant academic career behind to volunteer to work with children during the Spanish Civil War.


When more than half a million refugees fleeing Franco’s forces poured over the border into France in 1939, Mary Elmes followed them. From her base in Perpignan she helped set up schools, canteens, workshops, travelling libraries and convalescent homes for children. When the Second World War broke out she helped refugees from that war too – displaced Belgians, Germans and, increasingly, Jews who had been rounded up and interned.


In 1943 her work in the camps brought her to the attention of the Nazi authorities. She was arrested and jailed, first in Toulouse, then in the infamous Gestapo-run Fresnes prison outside Paris. The Quakers, and her mother in Cork, mounted a hard-fought campaign to get her out. Her neutral Irish nationality worked in her favour, and when she was finally released she made little of the experience. When a Quaker official, Howard Wriggins, asked her about it after the war, she remarked: ‘Well, we all experienced inconveniences in those days, didn’t we?’9


Even though Mary Elmes spoke little of her work, the Quakers had archived hundreds of thousands of documents that allowed Ronald Friend and the Wilsons to collect enough hard evidence to prove that she had saved the lives of the Freund brothers. On 27 June 2014, she was posthumously honoured at an award ceremony in Canet-en-Roussillon in the south of France. Ronald Friend was proud to be there to see her become the first, and only, Irish person to be named Righteous Among the Nations.


This is her story.
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WAR CASTS A LONG SHADOW


‘We … therefore take this opportunity of asking you to vote for the deletion of the word “male” … and thereby establish once and for all the principle of woman suffrage.’


— Elisabeth Elmes, Munster Women’s Franchise League


There were heart-rending scenes on the quayside in Queenstown (Cobh), Co. Cork, in the late afternoon of 7 May 1915. A few hours earlier, at 2.10 p.m., a German submarine torpedoed the pride of the Cunard line, the Lusitania, eight miles off the Cork coast. It sank within eighteen minutes, killing 1,198 people and leaving the 761 survivors struggling to stay afloat while trawlers and tugs in the vicinity came to their aid. Ashore, people rushed to the water’s edge to see how they might help. Every minute more ‘sightseers filled with pity and profound sympathy’ arrived on the scene.1


The harrowing descriptions of the procession of barefoot, bewildered men, women and children who struggled ashore would provoke worldwide outrage, and increase the pressure on then-neutral America to join Britain and the Allies in the Great War. But on that afternoon in May the focus was on the human tragedy that was just unfolding. Eye-witnesses described the ‘fearful explosion’ that hit the starboard side of the luxury ocean liner with ‘terrible suddenness’ while many of the passengers were still having lunch. The vessel, which had been en route from New York to Liverpool, listed to one side, making it almost impossible to launch lifeboats in time to save lives.


By early evening, partially clothed men, women and children, their ‘strained features stamped with the fear of death’, were being helped onto the quayside in Queenstown in what contemporary accounts described as ‘poignant scenes that bled the heart’.2


An Irish Times reporter was struck by the efforts of local people, who rushed to help survivors from the fishing boats that had come to their assistance.


Willing helpers with their arms around their [the survivors’] bodies, assisted them to walk to the hotels, hatless and shoeless, scarcely able to toddle through injuries to their [l]egs, arms and bodies. They were in their sea-soaked apparel and in a sad plight. Many of them were unable to walk, and had to be removed on stretchers to their resting places in boarding houses and hotels, where they were comfortably housed and humanely treated, and given hot drinks to resuscitate their fatigued and shocked frames.3


Others told reporters of the outpouring of ‘great help, practical comfort and kindly sympathy’ extended to the victims. ‘Police, naval men, the military, and civilians all vied with each other to render succour to the distressed survivors, and to care for the many injured cases. All the hotels are converted into hospitals, and every other house is a home of mercy.’4 Local people came with hot drinks and food, and, between ‘great draughts of tea and mouthfuls of meat’, people enquired about their missing relatives. In the street there were women crying for their husbands or children, fathers hoping against hope that their loved ones had been saved, and orphans weeping disconsolately. Queues formed outside the makeshift morgues in the town market as survivors faced the horrifying prospect that their relatives might be among the dead.5


When news of the disaster spread to Cork, eighteen miles away, the lord mayor, Henry O’Shea, and the city coroner, John Horgan, went to visit the American consul at Queenstown, Wesley Frost, to reassure him that the citizens of Cork would render every service they could. Dr Winder, a solicitor and secretary of the Cork Branch of the Irish Automobile Association, telephoned all the car owners of Cork and organised a fleet of cars to transport the injured to hospitals in the city if necessary.


[image: images]


Two days earlier, Marie Elisabeth Jean Elmes turned seven at her home in Ballintemple in the suburbs of Cork. Although she had just started at Rochelle School on the Blackrock Road, the memory of what happened off the coast that year would stay with her for the rest of her life. The house had neither a telephone nor a motor car in 1915,6 but Mary’s father, Edward Elmes, a pharmacist, may have felt compelled to join others of his profession who were administering restoratives to the injured. In any event, the Elmes family travelled to Queenstown to join the thousands who had gathered there to pay their respects to the dead. What Mary Elmes saw that day made a lasting impression on her. She would later tell her children, Caroline and Patrick, that she met some of the survivors and that people in the streets were crying openly.7 Even ‘the most stoical could not look on the mournful happenings of the day unmoved,’ the Cork Examiner commented.


At 3 p.m. on Monday 10 May 1915 a solemn procession of hearses, private mourners, mounted police, clergy, corporation officials and military and naval officers filed through the town to bury more than 150 people in mass graves that had been dug by members of the Royal Irish Regiment at the Old Church graveyard on the outskirts of town. Some forty-five of those bodies were never identified, their coffins marked only with a number.


The following day, the Cork Examiner captured the sombre mood and grief felt by the thousands of ordinary people who lined the route to the cemetery.


It was an exceedingly sad procession, but an event which attracted the sympathetic interest of thousands of people from the City of Cork. Queenstown was in general mourning. All the shops were closed, and from one o’clock out people took every point of vantage to witness the dismal sight of the funeral proper of the victims. Only at the cemetery could one get an even approximate idea of the full meaning of the terrible tragedy … Three graves remained open … In these were all the horrors of the calamity mirrored. One of them contained 65 coffins and a total of 67 bodies – two babies had been interred with their mothers. The next yawned its full length, breadth and depth, and so also with the third grave of the Catholics … It was all too ghastly to comprehend and too sickly to dwell on.8


For weeks afterwards, the press reported on the disaster, chronicling the political repercussions (later, there were reports of a second explosion) and the growing list of casualties. It was clear by now that the Irish art collector Hugh Lane had gone down with the ship, as had the wealthy American magnate Alfred G. Vanderbilt. He was one of many prominent passengers who had received a telegram advising them not to travel on the Lusitania before it left New York. The Imperial German embassy had also taken out advertisements in the American press to warn passengers that ships bearing the British flag were in danger of coming under attack in British waters. Vanderbilt was not alone in ignoring the warnings. When the torpedo struck, he is said to have been calm and unperturbed. ‘In my eyes he cut the figure of a gentleman waiting unconcernedly for a train,’ resident artist at Covent Garden, Oliver P. Bernard, told the Cork Examiner. ‘The last that was seen of him, he was giving a lady passenger his lifebelt.’9


Germany stood firm. While it apologised for any American deaths, it claimed the ship was a legitimate target, as it had on board arms and ammunition destined for British soldiers. Controversy would rage over that point for a century afterwards. At the time, though, Britain and its allies felt entirely justified in condemning the attack. On 10 May 1915 the Irish Independent said in its editorial: ‘The whole civilised world shudders at the black deed and a cry for vengeance has gone up.’ It went on to say that the ‘foul and ghoulish crime’ was exactly the same in character as if ‘a band of assassins had suddenly swooped down upon the town of Cavan and in a few minutes murdered every single one of its inhabitants’.10


In the immediate aftermath, there were daily reminders of what had happened. For months, bodies were washed up along the coast of Co. Cork, keeping the disaster in the forefront of public consciousness and bringing the war closer to home. The people of Cork were already accustomed to seeing wounded soldiers being brought into the city, where they were treated in military and civilian hospitals. In December 1915 Mary Elmes made her own personal contribution to the war effort: she knitted pairs of socks and sent them to the soldiers fighting on the front. She included a pair for a senior British officer, Field-Marshal John French, apparently a birthday present. It’s possible that he was a family acquaintance. Months later, in August 1916, he wrote her a personal note of thanks. It read: ‘My dear Miss Marie, many, many thanks for your kind thoughts … on my birthday. I shall always keep and prize your present, Your … grateful friend, French.’ The framed letter, a treasured possession, is still in the family archives.11


The suffering Mary Elmes witnessed after the sinking of the Lusitania may have partly influenced her decision two decades later to join the Spanish Civil War relief effort. Even if it did not, when she sailed from London for Gibraltar in 1937 she had some inkling of what awaited her, because she had already seen the effect of war at first hand.
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Marie Elisabeth Jean Elmes was born on Tuesday 5 May 1908 on the first floor of the family home, Culgreine, 120 Blackrock Road, Ballintemple, Cork. She came into the world in an airy upstairs bedroom that had one large window overlooking the tree-lined front garden and a second giving onto the back garden, with its greenhouse, pond, rockery and well-planted flower and vegetable beds.12 It was a wet day in late spring and there was some mist, but the temperature was moderate for May.13


The newspapers were already looking towards summer: in the Munster Arcade, in the city centre, ‘the latest ideas in summer millinery were particularly charming’. Charles Frohman’s Leah Kleschna was running at the Opera House, a five-act drama about a master jewel thief who raised his daughter to follow in his footsteps. In the council chamber of City Hall, the Cork Branch of the Women’s National Health Association was hosting a late-afternoon lecture on the home treatment of consumption (TB). A ticket on the ferry from Cork to Fishguard cost 15 shillings (one way, with cabin) and a night at the Clarence Hotel in Dublin (including breakfast) cost 4 shillings. If money was tight, several moneylenders were advertising their services on the front page of the Cork Examiner. On the news pages inside, the paper published an encouraging report about an ‘astounding decrease’ in emigration.14 The previous year nearly 40,000 Irish emigrants had left for America, but the figure in 1908 was not expected to exceed 15,000.


That was good news for Cork, a busy port city with a population of some 75,000 people. Marie’s father, Edward Elmes, was a pharmacist in the commercial heart of the city, working in the business founded by his wife’s family. J. Waters and Sons was a large dispensing chemist’s shop in Winthrop Street, but it also manufactured picture frames and supplied glass. Plate, sheet or mirror glass ‘could be supplied at the shortest notice’, customers were promised in a contemporary advertisement.15 Edward Elmes, who was originally from Waterford, had been in the city from at least 1901. The census of that year lists him as lodging at Pope’s Quay in the city centre. Pharmacy, like dentistry and veterinary medicine, was an occupation that had recently gained a new respectability: these were no longer apprenticeships but certified professions.16


This can only have been in Edward Elmes’s favour, because on 11 September 1906 he married his employer’s fourth and youngest daughter, Elisabeth Octavia Waters, at St Luke’s Church in a service conducted by the bride’s older brother, Rev. Richard Waters. At the time, 8½ per cent of the city’s residents belonged to the Church of Ireland and many of them retained significant commercial and political power.17 The newly married couple were among the well-to-do, and their first child, Marie (later generally called Mary), was born into a prosperous home. The 1911 census offers us some hints of that prosperity. On census night, which fell on 2 April, Mary and her brother, John, were visiting their uncle, Rev. Waters, and his wife, Jane, at Springfield House, a grand house in Gardiner’s Hill, Cork. John had been born a year after his sister, on 18 May. The children’s nurse, 41-year-old Mary Morgan, was with them.


Elsewhere in the city, Elisabeth Elmes was visiting her sisters, Marion and Juliet, at 17 Belgrave Square, Monkstown, while Edward Elmes was the only family member at home. The household had a second live-in maid, a nineteen-year-old Catholic, Julia Spence. That night she had a visitor, Mary Spence (aged fifteen), perhaps a sister. The fact that the family had two servants says something about their status: they were comfortable members of the professional middle class.18 The children’s nurse and servant lived at the top of the house in relatively spacious communicating rooms with windows overlooking the garden. The house itself was plumbed throughout and the bedrooms were fitted with porcelain wash-hand basins. It had a bath and an indoor toilet.19


There were more luxurious houses in the city at the time, Spring-field House among them, but there was extreme poverty too. A sociological survey by Fr A. M. MacSweeney, conducted a few years later in 1915, found that 35 per cent of the city residents were ‘in a chronic state of want’, suffering from hunger, possessing a single set of clothes and often residing in tenements. Another 14 per cent were unskilled labourers living a ‘hand-to-mouth existence’.20 Like many privileged families, and in particular Church of Ireland families, the Elmeses had a strong tradition of giving to charity. Edward Elmes was a committee member of the Protestant Orphans Society, and the family regularly went to fund-raising events in the city.21


Culgreine was not only an affluent and charitable household but also a progressive one. Elisabeth Elmes was an active member of the Munster Women’s Franchise League and campaigned for the vote for women. In October 1910 the leader of the British suffrage movement, Emmeline Pankhurst, visited Cork and spoke at City Hall; her speech ‘put a match to the unlit beacon of suffrage opinion in the South’.22 It is not recorded whether Elisabeth Elmes was there, but she certainly heard about it, because she joined the Cork branch of the league that was founded in its wake. In 1911 the Cork women broke away from the main organisation to form their own non-militant branch, and Elisabeth went on to become the league’s honorary treasurer.


In 1913, she was one of four committee members who wrote to all Munster MPs calling on them to vote to delete the word ‘male’ in the Franchise Bill due before the House of Commons later that year. The letter read:


We feel … that we can rely on you for whole-hearted support, and therefore take this opportunity of asking you to vote for the deletion of the word ‘male’ … and thereby establish once and for all the principle of woman suffrage.


The letter’s signatories argued that this was a unique opportunity to vindicate the ‘Irish love of liberty’ and one that would not affect the campaign for Irish self-government. ‘We cannot believe that by doing so you will in any way injure the cause of Home Rule, the success of which must always be your first care, but rather further its interests by winning the confidence of Irish and English women in your love of justice and devotion to the principles of liberty.’23


Home Rule was granted the following year, but Irish and English women would have to wait until 1928 to get full voting rights. From 1918 women over thirty could vote, but that was a few years off.


In 1913 the subject of women’s rights was still a controversial one. In May that year the Weekly Irish Times reported that a ‘throng’ of two thousand people (and a few policemen on duty) packed the City Hall in Cork to hear the Welsh suffragette Alice Abadam speak. She had been invited by the Munster Women’s Franchise League, but the event was heated, to say the least. Before their guest said a word, someone in the public gallery fired a revolver. She was quick to react, retorting: ‘I thank you for receiving me like Royalty – that is, with the explosion of a gun.’ She tried to continue but she was shouted down with a sustained chorus of ‘hostile cries’ from the audience. When she invited one particularly vocal female heckler to come onto the stage and argue her point, she was told: ‘No. I refuse to stand on a platform with an Orangeman.’ Miss Abadam insisted that she was not associated with Orangemen, but the meeting ended in disarray. The heckler was ejected by the police, five more revolver shots were fired, and the speaker left by a back door. ‘A large hostile crowd hung around the front entrance awaiting her appearance,’ the paper reported.24


It is very likely that Elisabeth Elmes was at that event. She must have spoken of it at home but probably not to her daughter, who was only five at the time. The household, however, would have been accustomed to talk of conflict.


Several of Edward Elmes’s siblings had been involved in war overseas. His brother, John Henry, and sister, Kathrina Elizabeth, had both served as medical personnel in the second Boer War. John, a surgeon, had survived the siege of Mafeking in South Africa, while his sister often talked of her time as a nurse in the same war. She moved back to the family home in Waterford, and visitors to the house, including Mark Elmes, a cousin of Mary’s, recalled her exotic collection of ostrich eggs, snakeskin and feathers. Mary would have heard the story behind the snakeskin: it had belonged to a venomous black mamba that Kathrina found in her bedroom one evening. She ran out, saying there was a snake in her bedroom, and one of the men where she was working came in and shot it. She brought the skin home as a souvenir. She also had tortoises, and painted their shells in bright colours so that they wouldn’t get lost in the garden.


There would have been talk of another uncle, William Morris Elmes, who fought and was decorated in the Second Boer War and the First World War but had gone missing in 1924. It took several inquiries from Mary’s grandfather, Robert Samuel, before the family discovered he had been shot and killed in Angola four months previously. His effects – a small gold tie pin, 6,120 escudos and some war medals – were deposited in a police station but were later stolen. They did turn up at auction later, but never returned to Cork.25


Another story of war was also familiar to the Elmes family: one written by Susanne Rouvier Day about her experiences as a Quaker volunteer during the Great War between 1915 and 1917.26 Susanne Day and Elisabeth Elmes had served together on the committee of the Munster Women’s Franchise League, and it is highly likely that Elisabeth bought a copy of Round About Bar-le-Duc when it was published in 1918. The title referred to the town in northern France where Susanne Day worked with refugees and saw the harrowing effect of war on civilians. However, she never pretended to be part of some sort of heroic adventure. She wrote: ‘Twenty months in the warzone ought, one would imagine, to have provided me hairbreadth escapes, thrills, and perhaps even shockers with which to regale you, but the adventures are all those of other people, an occasional flight to a cellar being all we could claim of danger.’27


She was light-hearted about her own experience, but her vivid prose paints an almost photographic image of the ‘senseless cruelty’ of war. As fighting began around Verdun in February 1916, she wrote of the ‘little groups of bewildered creatures, muddy, travel-stained, dog-weary, yet wonderfully patient and resigned’, who took refuge in the ‘brown-coloured’ air of a covered market. ‘Perhaps you think this is an absurd thing to say, but it was so,’ she wrote. ‘[The air] hung like a pale brown veil over the room, and as weeks went by the colour deepened, and in breathing it one had the sensation of drawing something solid into one’s lungs.’ She went on to describe the barracks, which had been divided into two narrow lanes with straw – ‘thick, tossed-up straw’ – on which human beings were lying in the last stages of physical and mental exhaustion. ‘There are no sanitary arrangements of any kind in the building, there is not a basin, nor a towel, nor a cake of soap of which the refugees can make use.’28


She might well have been describing the conditions that Mary Elmes would encounter in the early years of the Second World War, when a similar procession of bewildered people swept south to escape Hitler, joining the hundreds of thousands of displaced Spanish refugees who had recently fled Franco.
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AROUND THE MULBERRY TREE


‘Between the acts we “promenaded” in the foyer and on the “grand escalier”. There were crowds of people and some lovely frocks but my green and silver was as pretty as any.’


— Mary Elmes, Paris, 1926


The colours of Mary Elmes’s school uniform told a story in themselves. The green of the serge tunic, blouse and smart blazer and the red hints in her school tie and hat-band evoked an intriguing legend that purportedly explained the origins of Rochelle School.1 The principal had deliberately chosen green and red to mirror the colours of the leaves and fruit of a mulberry tree in the school’s grounds. And that tree, so the story went, was ‘proof’ of an adventurous past. Huguenots, persecuted Protestants fleeing from seventeenth-century France, came to Cork, where they established themselves as silk merchants. According to school tradition, they had come to this spot in Blackrock and planted mulberry trees to feed the silkworms associated with their trade. The school’s very name, Rochelle, was reminiscent of the French city of La Rochelle, which was once a Huguenot centre.2


The tale had been embellished and embroidered by generations of schoolgirls, who told of a secret passage and smugglers. One pupil, Mabel Lethbridge, had even allegedly found the hidden tunnel, but in Mary Elmes’s time there were still regular searches for it.3


The story about the tree and its origins may well have been the start of a lifelong interest in the Huguenots. Mary believed that a branch of the Elmes family, the Vickers, had a Huguenot connection, and she read extensively about them in her later years.4


In her school days the tree and its associated myths must have provided a welcome distraction, because outside the school gates the city was in social and political turmoil. Mary’s school years, from 1915 to 1925, encompassed a world war, the Easter Rising, the War of Independence and the Civil War that followed it. Any one of those events might explain the fact that on occasion she was absent from school. Cork was a relatively dangerous city in 1921 and 1922; a strict curfew was in operation and a number of civilians were shot dead, randomly, on the street. Yet it is difficult to explain the dates and the extent of her school absences. The roll books for 1919, 1924 and 1925 survive, and in each of those years she had lengthy absences.5 Given that she would go on to achieve exceptional results at Trinity College, Dublin, and later at the London School of Economics, her absence would not seem to be due to any lack of interest in education. Her mother, who actively pursued better opportunities for women, was likely to have encouraged her daughter from her early days. The school, too, urged girls to go on to further education.


Shortly before Mary and her younger brother, John, started school on the same day, 24 September 1915, a new headmistress was appointed. Christine Bewley, a progressive and committed principal, transformed Rochelle from a seminary that trained governesses into a school for the modern age. The girls who went there could expect to receive ‘a thorough education on modern lines in preparation for professional or home life’.6 Boys attended Rochelle too, but only in kindergarten, up to the age of eight. When she took over, Miss Bewley ‘must have seemed as modern as a man from Mars’, Dorothy Rudd commented in a history of the school written many years later.7 Yet the school governors unanimously accepted her appointment and at regular intervals approved her suggestions to modernise the school, including the introduction of the green and red uniform.8


When the Elmes children first walked through the grand school gates they would have seen a stately Georgian building on its own extensive grounds, complete with two tennis lawns and a large fruit and vegetable garden. Inside, it was kitted out with modern equipment, a gymnasium, laboratory, cookery room and music rooms, according to an illustrated school prospectus of the time.9 The syllabus was wide-ranging: in 1915 the subjects taught included English language and literature, history, geography, French, German, Latin, mathematics, science, housecraft, nature study, PE and singing.10 During her tenure Miss Bewley expanded the curriculum. Quite soon after her appointment, for instance, she organised French conversation classes, which suggests that Mary already had a good foundation in the language before she studied it, years later, at Trinity College.11


The school had a tradition of giving to charity, and one of the first entries featuring the Elmes children is in the register of the League of Pity, a fund established to help needy children. On 3 March 1918 both Mary and John donated a sum of five shillings.12 Later the school’s pupils voted, unanimously, to donate the money that would have been spent on school prizes to the Red Cross Society.13


Rochelle had already attained a certain prestige. It published regular advertisements in the Irish Times, drawing attention to the school’s ‘Large and Fully-qualified Staff of Graduates and Specialists’.14 One of them, a Miss Kyle, was a Trinity graduate and gold-medallist. Not only would Mary Elmes herself graduate from the same college but she too would be awarded a gold medal in 1932. As a young schoolgirl she may not have been aware of the significance of her teacher’s achievement, but the school prided itself on preparing its girls for further education. Its prospectus affirmed: ‘Pupils are prepared for University Entrance and Scholarship Examinations, and for the Examinations of the Intermediate Board and the Department of Technical Instruction.’15


The school’s religious ethos was firmly Anglican. The school governors made that clear in 1914 when they advertised for a new principal: ‘Candidates, preferably over 30 and under 40, should be members of the Church of Ireland or England.’16


When Miss Bewley was appointed there were 103 pupils on the roll, 39 of whom were boarders. The principal was paid an annual minimum salary of £150 (approximately €18,300 in 2017), with board, residence, coal, light and laundry. She lived in the school but had furnished apartments of her own and a housekeeper.17 Under Miss Bewley’s stewardship, the school thrived. The number of pupils rose, and the fees paid by boarders and day pupils helped to keep the school in the black. Mary’s parents would have paid an annual fee of £3 15s (about €385 in 2017) for her kindergarten years and up to £9 9s (about €1,206 in 2017) for her senior years.


Miss Bewley succeeded in establishing a flourishing modern school, despite the political tumult that was unfolding outside its gates. In an attempt to safeguard her pupils from what was happening in the world around them, she imposed ‘a rigid curtain of censorship’.18 Newspapers were banned, along with any discussion of politics or modern history. However, it was impossible to ignore what was going on. There would have been days and weeks when pupils were unable to get to the school because bridges had been blown up or trains had been cancelled.


There were other risks too. Between 1918 and 1919 some 23,000 Irish people died of the so-called ‘Spanish flu’, a pandemic that spread globally and killed up to 100 million people. This might explain Mary’s first documented absence from school, between February and October 1919. She missed 45 days of school, while John (incorrectly called Don in the roll book) was absent for 18 days.19 It is tempting to imagine her convalescing in Culgreine, where the sun streamed into her bedroom in the late afternoon. She would later tell her children that her cat used to climb, on velvet paws, up the back porch and land on the windowsill of her bedroom, demanding to be let in.20 Were girl and cat installed in that room during her absences from school? Perhaps she spent periods of convalescence there, expanding her horizons with books from the house’s well-stocked library, which included everything from Hans Andersen’s fairytales to books on cookery, history and politics.


When another wave of flu hit the city in January 1922, the Public Health Committee requested that the managers of all schools in the city and in the immediate vicinity close their schools ‘for the present’.21 Rochelle closed its doors for two full months, opening again on 1 March.22


If Mary was ill during her school days, she never mentioned it afterwards. There was no mention of a childhood illness either. She obviously enjoyed robust health; not only did she survive the considerable challenges of being an aid worker in two wars but she went on to lead a long, healthy life until her death at the age of ninety-three.
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Mary did speak, however, about the political violence in Cork during the 1920s. The memory of the assassination of the city’s first Republican mayor, Tomás Mac Curtain, on 20 March 1920 stayed with her for life. She told her children of the grief felt by people on all sides of the political divide and the widespread condemnation. The family business, along with all traders in the city, closed its doors as a mark of respect as ‘vast throngs’ accompanied the remains of the deceased from his home to City Hall, where the body lay in state.23


A few months later, in October, the city was in mourning again when the lord mayor’s successor, Terence MacSwiney, died after seventy-four days on hunger strike in Brixton Prison in London. His death attracted international attention and criticism, but for Mary and her family, it had a personal significance. The late mayor’s sister, Mary MacSwiney, and Mary Elmes’s mother, Elisabeth Elmes, were friends; they had both been committee members of the Munster Women’s Franchise League.


The Elmes family was to experience a further personal blow. On the night of 11/12 December 1920 British forces set fire to several buildings in Patrick Street in the city centre. The following day the Cork Examiner reported that Cork had never experienced such a ‘night of horror’.


The residents in every part of the city were terrified by the rifle and revolver firing, bomb explosions, extensive outbreaks of fire, the breaking and smashing of windows and business premises and crashing of walls of buildings. These alarming incidents were in progress until the break of dawn, and it was then found that portions of the city were masses of smouldering ruins. Valuable business premises had been razed to the ground while many other establishments were brought to a state of ruination.24


Carnegie Library and City Hall, both in Anglesea Street, were completely destroyed. More than forty shops were gone and five acres lay in ruins following the ‘orgy of destruction’.25 The Cork Examiner published a long list of the damage, mentioning the fate of each trader in the city centre. Under a list entitled ‘Premises badly burned’ there were four entries for Winthrop Street, among them ‘J. Waters & Sons, Ltd. oil and colour warehouse’.26 It must have been the subject of much discussion and worry at home in Ballintemple. Some of those reading the paper that day may have felt irked by the too-late front-page advertisement for ‘riot and civil commotion insurance’, which included ‘military and police damage’.27


However, the resilience of the city’s traders was striking. In the days that followed, several businesses took out advertisements to say that it was business as usual. William Egan and Sons Ltd, jewellers and silversmiths, published a notice to say they had moved temporarily to the Victoria Hotel. Burton’s tailoring firm, ‘late of 23, Patrick Street, Cork’, told customers that they were now operating out of number 2. Many others published notices to thank customers for their expressions of sympathy and to assure them that all orders taken before the attack in Patrick Street would be attended to as quickly as possible.28


J. Waters and Sons not only recovered from the attack but expanded; the following year it had added new services to the business. It now supplied lead, used for backing the mirrors that would become a big part of its business in later years. Eventually the glass side of the business took over from the pharmacy and it became Waters Munster Glass.29


Mary also kept a reminder of the dramatic battle for Cork that took place over three days in the city and its environs in August 1922. In her papers there is a travel permit, dated 7 October 1922, that allows the bearers – Mary and her mother – to leave the city and proceed to Passage West by boat. It is signed by General Emmet Dalton, the man who, with 450 Free State troops, landed in Passage West and led the surprise attacks that forced the anti-Treaty forces into retreat.


According to Dr John Borgonovo, historian and author of The Battle for Cork, ‘these permits would have been typical for people leaving the city limits; roads were guarded by troops, and docking boats would have been searched. Passage West would have been cut off by rail at the time.’


Back at Rochelle School on the Blackrock Road there must have been talk of what was going on, but Miss Bewley did all she could to make sure that school life went on as normal. While a plan to extend the school was postponed because of the ‘disturbed state of the country’,30 Miss Bewley succeeded in steering the school into the emerging new Ireland. ‘Rochelle was certainly not one of the Protestant schools that turned its back on the Irish language and all things Irish, and this must have been due, in no small measure, to Miss Bewley. Many people spoke of her courage, calmness and tolerance during those very difficult years,’ Dorothy Rudd wrote.31


She introduced a more extensive sports programme, and the school held a series of ambitious theatrical performances on the lawn when the weather permitted. There are wonderful pictures from the 1920s showing the girls dressed in pale-green tunics performing Greek dancing and another of them kicking up their legs in a chorus line, with elaborate feathered headdresses and short chequered skirts. Miss Bewley was a great administrator, an excellent English teacher, and, to the delight of some of her pupils, she owned her own car. One former pupil, Gladys Gregg, commented: ‘Wasn’t she modern to drive her own car!?’ after Miss Bewley brought them on a picnic to celebrate winning the local schools cup in hockey.32


Of course, as with all school reminiscences, there were dissenting voices too. Lily Fitzpatrick, a contemporary of Mary’s, recalled the stern headmistress’s ‘iron rule’: ‘She was the coldest person I have ever met, with eyes like steel and no sign of affection for anyone.’33 But if she found Miss Bewley severe, Lily had fond memories of the other teachers at Rochelle who would also have taught Mary. There was


Miss Edwards, dear Ted, whom we all loved … Miss Blair, who taught maths but never succeeded in getting them into my head. We had a Domestic Economy teacher called Miss Smith. We nicknamed her ‘Big Smut’ because we were all fond of her. She was particularly good at sewing, and was always encouraging us to put ‘plates in our bosoms’, which was her funny way of pronouncing pleats; and of course it became a cant [catchphrase] with us.34


Although Mary wasn’t a boarder she must have heard them complain of ‘breakfasts of porridge, stale bread and little butter, with perhaps a sausage on Sunday as a “treat”’,35 and tales of their late-night antics. Phyllis Hannaford (née Botterill) recalled:


The highly illegal amusement of bedtime was having eider-down rides, i.e. sitting on one end of an eider-down while the other end was pulled at top speed along the well-polished linoleum by two volunteers. Sometimes the more ancient eider-downs couldn’t stand the pace and then the feathers would fly and a mad rush would follow to clear up the mess before the mistress on duty came to turn off the lights.36
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In July 1925, after Mary finished school, her friend Maida Clarke sent her a swastika for good luck. At that time the ancient Indian symbol and its Sanskrit name were still considered tokens of good will, and Maida meant it as a happy remembrance of the friends’ ‘little pleasant trips together’ and a wish for the future.37 The letter – though not the swastika itself – is still in the family collection. Later on, Mary must have been struck by how such a universally positive emblem would come to symbolise the atrocities committed under Hitler and the Third Reich. She would see the effects of that regime in the internment camps in the south of France a decade and a half later, but in 1925 her friend’s letter and enclosure were meant as a farewell message to send Mary on her way. She was leaving Cork to spend a year studying French in Meudon, on the outskirts of Paris.


She left Cork on 28 December 1925 and recorded her thoughts and impressions faithfully in a diary for the year 1926.38 The entries are those of a young woman deeply interested in culture, art, architecture and nature. She was endlessly curious about the world around her and the people she met: well-seasoned travellers, veterans of the Great War, and the friends of friends who had a private gondola at their disposal one hot and mosquito-y summer in Venice.


In Meudon she was joined by a young Englishwoman, Lulu Agar, and later two others. They all lodged with Mme Pécontal and learned French while visiting the sights of Paris – Notre Dame, the Arc de Triomphe, the Champs-Élysées, the Louvre – and the cathedrals and castles in the towns and cities of northern France. Mary was particularly taken with Versailles and wrote about it with the eye of a painter. ‘The sky was beautiful; soft grey windswept clouds with rose and eau de nil showing through, and it formed a perfect background for the blue black trees and the old brick of the Chateau. Hampton Court is a cottage compared to Versailles.’ Although she had a keen visual sense, she didn’t draw. ‘I wish I could sketch; it would be lovely to draw the quaint foreign people, especially the men who are so different,’ she wrote in early February.


She wrote too about what she saw: the horseflesh on show in the market (‘absolutely revolting’); the women who loved to dress in black, ‘this sad colour’; First Communion, French style: ‘The girls’ costume is really ridiculous, long muslin dresses and veils which can be of no earthly use after.’ She wrote home to tell her parents when she saw an escalator for the first time. ‘At this shop [the Grands Magasins du Louvre in the Rue de Rivoli] there are curious ascenders like moving staircases without steps; it is amusing to notice the expressions on the faces of those who used this method of getting to the upper floors.’


She took classes in embroidery and sewing, and her command of French, already good, improved dramatically. Three volumes of her homework describe, in perfect French, the places she visited, what she saw and the history of the area. There is little of herself in these neat, beautifully scripted pages. Her inner thoughts were reserved for her English journal, where she felt free to say exactly what she thought, which was often humorous and openly critical of any kind of affectation.


Mrs B – and her daughter came to tea; she wants to send her other girls here but I hope she doesn’t as they seem very ‘nouveau riche’ people. They introduced at every turn the people they knew, the winter sports, Italy, Milan, the Opera! Somehow I don’t think she will come; they are not exactly our kind.


Not that Mary Elmes had anything against the opera. She saw Samson and Delilah at the Opera House in November. It was ‘splendid, voices, music and scenery. Between the acts we “promenaded” in the foyer and on the “grand escalier” [big staircase]. There were crowds of people and some lovely frocks but my green and silver was as pretty as any.’


There were trips to the theatre, tours of castles, cathedrals and galleries, a holiday on the French coast and a trip to Montreux on Lake Geneva. She didn’t go back to Cork at all in 1926, though she kept in regular contact. There were several letters from home, including one with a sprig of shamrock from the rockery in Culgreine for St Patrick’s Day, which, more than ninety years later, is still in the pages of her diary, dried and pressed in a bright-green ribbon.


There were visits from two of her aunts. One of them, Aunt Fanny (Frances), had studied French in France and perhaps inspired her niece to follow in her footsteps. There was also a much-anticipated visit from Mary’s mother, Elisabeth. When she left, after three weeks, Mary wrote: ‘Mummie’s train went at 8.14. A most horribly blank feeling when she was gone; too miserable to even think.’ But she quickly got back into the swing of her studies and her travels, recording the many books she read, the politics of the day, the plays she saw and the tips gleaned from Aimée, the cook, on days off: ‘She told me a special secret – a few teaspoonfuls of caster sugar always improves the flavour [of a ragout]’. Her hostess, Mme Pécontal, remained a lifelong friend.


When she got back to Cork in 1927 Mary applied to study modern languages at Trinity College, Dublin, although she kept in touch with her former school too. When Rochelle established a past pupils’ organisation that March she joined the committee.39 Two years later she was still involved and wrote to the secretary of the Cork Child Welfare League to say that Rochelle Old Girls’ Association would donate the proceeds of its annual dance to the Babies’ Milk Fund in Cork.40 The following year the Cork Examiner hailed the association’s dance as an unqualified success. Mary and her brother were listed among those who attended.41 Again the proceeds went to the Babies’ Milk Fund.


Less than a decade later Mary Elmes would herself be providing milk to babies and children at a feeding station in Almería in the south-east of Spain, a country torn apart by civil war.
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